



"BABEŞ-BOLYAI" UNIVERSITY CLUJ-NAPOCA FACULTY OF ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

DOCTORAL SCHOOL ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES

GEOGENIC EMISSIONS OF METHANE IN THE MOLDAVIAN PLATFORM AND TRANSYLVANIAN BASIN

- Summary of Doctoral Dissertation -

Scientific coordinator: Prof. Călin BACIU, Ph.D

> Ph.D Candidate: Ioan-Cristian POP

Cluj-Napoca 2014





"BABEŞ-BOLYAI" UNIVERSITY CLUJ-NAPOCA FACULTY OF ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING DOCTORAL SCHOOL ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES

GEOGENIC EMISSIONS OF METHANE IN THE MOLDAVIAN PLATFORM AND TRANSYLVANIAN BASIN

- Summary of Doctoral Dissertation -

Scientific coordinator: Prof. Călin BACIU, Ph.D

> Ph.D Candidate: Ioan-Cristian POP

Cluj-Napoca 2014





Acknowledgements

My gratitude goes to the scientific coordinator, Prof. eng. Călin Baciu, Ph.D for all the support and help offered throughout the entire period of this research and for having faith in me and my work. I am thankful for his guidance in understanding the diversity and complexity of the information regarding this field of study.

I owe grateful thanks to colleagues and friends from the Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Engineering who helped me with useful advices throughout the research period.

I want to emphasize the support offered during the fieldwork by my colleague Artur Ionescu, without whom I would not have been able to identify all the studied mud volcanoes or to perform measurements and record all the data I needed.

I also want to thank the members of the Guidance Committee: Reader Nicoleta Brisan. Ph.D, lecturer Dan Costin, Ph.D and Reader Radu Mihăiescu, Ph.D for the advices and suggestions provided during the preparation of this thesis.

I address deepest thanks to my wife and children for the patience and moral support offered during all this time.

The Ph.D thesis was accomplisged with the financial support from the project PN-II-ID-PCE-2011-3-0537, whose resources facilitated the fieldwork.

Cluj-Napoca November 2014 Key words: geogenic emissions of methane, mud volcanoes, Moldavian Platform, Transylvanian Basin

CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION
II. THEORETICAL SUBSTANTIATION7
Origin of methane7
Atmospheric budget of methane
Geology of Moldavian Platform10
Geology of the study area in Transylvanian Basin11
Natural gas deposits in Moldavian Platform11
Natural gas deposits in the Transylvanian Basin11
III. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 12
Documentation phase
Gas manifestations in the Moldavian Platform12
Gas manifestations in the Transylvanian Basin12
Investigation method for the gas flow13
Mode of operation
Method of data interpretation
RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS 15
The Moldavian Platform15
The Transylvanian Basin16
Similar international studies17
CONCLUSIONS
Selective bibliography

I. INTRODUCTION

The greenhouse effect represents the phenomenon whereby the terrestrial atmosphere retains the direct solar radiations and radiations from the Earth's surface, due to the presence of gases such as water vapors, CO_2 and CH_4 . Among the greenhouse gases, methane ranks third (after water vapors and CO_2) in emphasizing the greenhouse phenomenon (IPCC, 2013).

According to IPCC (2013), after 1750 the atmospheric concentration of CH₄ had increased markedly, reaching 1650 ppb during mid-1980s and 1803 ppb in 2011. Between mid-1980s and mid-2000s the CH₄ concentration growth rate in the atmosphere decreased near to zero, and since 2006 it began increasing again. It cannot be stated whether it is a shortterm fluctuation or it represents a new regime for the methane cycle in the atmosphere. The concentration of CH₄ in the atmosphere began to rise along with the industrialization era, that marks an unprecedented intensification of entropic activities (intensive livestock, emissions from the extraction and combustion of fossil fuels, increase of areas planted with rice, etc.), all these representing 50-65% of the total CH₄ sources.

The presence of methane in the atmosphere (both from natural and anthropogenic sources) along with other greenhouse gases (nitrogen oxides, sulfur oxides, chlorofluorocarbons) leads to the greenhouse phenomenon amplification of direct implication on the global temperature increase.

One of the most important natural source of CH_4 is the geogenic emissions. Identification of this type of gas manifestations at soil surface, that may be in the form of mud volcanoes, dry gas emissions or methane-rich springs and quantification of these emissions can provide information in the domain of geology, petroleum explorations, and environmental issues regarding geological hazards and global warming (Etiope et al., 2008).

Mud volcanoes are geological structures resulting from gas emissions, water and sediments at soil surface (Dimitrov, 2003). Mud volcanoes are a significant geological source of methane, having an important role in the atmospheric budget of this gas. On a global scale, dependent on the number of mud volcanoes reported in the literature, various estimates of the annual methane emissions have been made: 10-12 Tg (Dimitrov, 2002), 5-10 Tg (Etiope and Klusman, 2002), 5 Tg (Dimitrov, 2003), 6-9 Tg (Etiope and Milkov, 2004) and 10-20 Tg (Etiope et al., 2011).

Another form of manifestation of gas emissions at soil surface is the dry emissions, whose flows are dependent on the groundwater level or rainfall quantity. A feature of these gas emissions is that they can ignite spontaneously, hence the name "everlasting fires".

On the basis of information from literature, this thesis aims to identify the gas manifestations in the Moldavian Platform and to quantify for the first time the methane and carbon dioxide emissions and also to complete the existing data on methane and carbon dioxide emissions in the Transylvanian Basin.

Localization of areas with geogenic gas emissions in the two areas involved a thorough documentation from the scientific literature and establishing an effective strategy of verification of the obtained information in the field. During two field research campaigns the points of interest were identified based on data from literature, measurements of gas flows and estimates of methane and carbon dioxide emissions were performed. GPS coordinates were recorded and were noted useful aspects observed in situ, for each point.

This thesis contributes with new information, useful for initiating further investigations in order to obtain more detailed data regarding the area of a potential reservoir. Also the results obtained contribute to outline the methane and carbon dioxide budget on a global scale.

II. THEORETICAL SUBSTANTIATION

Origin of methane

The origin of methane formed in geological environment, called geogenic methane, can be synthesized in two big categories: **biotic**, generated by the decomposition of organic matter by bacteria in the total absence of oxygen and **abiotic**, generated in an inorganic way in volcanic and geothermal systems, or as a result of transformation of ultramafic rocks in serpentine within the Earth's crust (Etiope et.al., 2011c).

Depending on the ways in which it is generated, biotic methane can be **biogenic** or **thermogenic**. Biogenic methane is formed by the action of anaerobic bacteria through sulphates reduction and reduction of albumin, cellulose and lactic acid in sediments. It may also arise by the reduction of carbon dioxide to methane (1) or by the reduction of carbon dioxide by hydrogen (2), in the presence of microorganisms.

$$4\text{CO}_2 + 2\text{H}_2\text{O} \rightarrow \text{CH}_4 + 3\text{CO}_2 \tag{1}$$

$$CO_2 + 8H \rightarrow CH_4 + 2H_2O \tag{2}$$

The temperature for generation of biogenic methane is below 50°C, and the depth of generation is from a few meters up to tens of meters (Beca & Prodan, 1984; Judd, 2000).

Lundegard (2005) considers that biogenic methane can also be generated through acetic acid fermentation resulting from the metabolism of bacterial origin at shallow depths, close to the surface (3):

$$CO_3COOH \rightarrow CH_4 + CO_2$$
 (3)

Thermogenic methane is generated by the decomposition of organic matter in sediments under the influence of physico-chemical factors (temperature, pressure, catalyzers), depth of generation being 1-4 km depending on the geothermal gradient. Thermogenic methane is generated both in catagenesis phase, at temperatures of 200°C and in metagenesis phase at temperatures above 250°C. Transformation of organic matter requires more time, after chemical transformations resulting liquid, solid and gaseous hydrocarbons (Judd et al., 2002).

Atmospheric budget of methane

Estimates of methane emissions were made on a global scale for the last three decades and for 2011 by measuring the CH₄ flow and estimation of CH₄ emissions at source and extrapolate them at regional or national level.

Among the natural sources of atmospheric methane (347 Tg year⁻¹ in 2000-2009), the first are wetlands, which represents 62.54% of the total methane emissions, with an approximative emission of 217 Tg CH₄ year⁻¹. Geological sources (including oceans) release annualy about 54 Tg CH₄ year⁻¹ representing 15.56%, followed by fresh water (lakes and rivers) that has a contribution of 40 Tg CH₄ year⁻¹, representing 11.53%. Wild animals and termites have an important role in methane emissions, with an emission of 15 and 11 Tg CH₄ year⁻¹ respectively, representing 4.32% and 3.17%. Among the natural sources of methane there are also included methane hydrates (1.73%), biomass combustion - spontaneous fires of natural causes (0.86%) and permafrost (0.29%).

Among the anthropogenic sources of methane (331 Tg year⁻¹), production of energy from fossil fuels ranks first with emissions of 96 Tg CH₄ year⁻¹, representing 29% of the total methane emissions. Ruminants is the second important anthropogenic source of methane with emissions of 89 Tg CH₄ year⁻¹ representing 26.89%. Microbial activities from landfills have an intake of 75 Tg CH₄ year⁻¹, representing 22.65%. Among the major anthropogenic sources of methane can also be mentioned: rice fields (10.87%) and biomass combustion (10.57%).

Removal of methane from the atmosphere occurs primarily as a result of the reaction with the hydroxyl radical (OH) in the troposphere, the annual consumption of CH_4 equivalent to 90% of all methane emissions from the surface, this total representing 9% of the amount of methane present in the atmosphere (4700-4900 Tg CH_4). The rest of the methane is consumed in the troposphere in reaction with chlorine in the marine environment or in stratosphere in reaction with OH or in soil by the action of methanotrophic bacteria.

Based on the estimation of methane emissions by extrapolating the measured flow at soil surface and on the basis of sources inventory, an emission of 678 Tg CH₄ year⁻¹ resulted. Mathematical modeling revealed a global average consumption of 632 Tg CH₄ year⁻¹, resulting in an additional CH₄ of 45 Tg CH₄ year⁻¹ in the atmosphere for the period 2000-2011. This surplus was attributed to anthropogenic emissions (IPCC, 2013).

Since 2007, IPCC included CH_4 emissions from geogenic sources in the methane budget. Submarine emissions, mud volcanoes and macro emissions from gas-bearing and oilbearing basins are considered major sources of geogenic methane, the surface with potential of geogenic emissions representing one third of the Earth's surface.

Extrapolation of CH_4 emissions globally is difficult to achieve because of the small number of identified and assessed locations (Etiope & Klusman, 2002). Estimates lead to values between 30-70 Tg CH_4 year⁻¹, with an average of 50 Tg CH_4 year⁻¹ (IPCC, 2013).

Gas manifestations in geological environments

Gases generated by the decomposition of organic matter in sediments reach the Earth's surface in the form of visible manifestations that alter the soil composition and morphology (macro-emissions) or in the form of invisible emissions (micro-emissions). Macro-emissions can be classified into three categories of gas manifestations: mud volcanoes, springs with gas intake and dry emissions. Micro-emissions are diffuse emissions which occur particularly close to macro-emissions (Etiope et al., 2009).

On the basis of the criterion that a gas manifestation can be named a mud volcano is the existence of three phases: gas, water and sediments. The simplest definition was formulated by Judd and Hovland (2007), who define the mud volcano as a structure that imposes in topography from which a solid material flows or erupts (at least mud, but in general also solid rocks) and fluids (water, gas, oil).

Although there is some similarity between magmatic volcanoes and mud volcanoes regarding surface morphology (i.e. cone structure) or similar activity (eruptions of gas and solid matter), the latter has a different genesis and different eruption products and a reduced manifestation in amplitude.

Dependent on size, mud volcanoes can be complex structures with many craters, peaks and complex exhaust system or simple structures with a single exhaust channel (Judd and Hovland, 2007). Under the mud volcanoes structure there are one or more source-layers (volcano hearth) where the mud material has accumulated and will be expelled through the feed channel.

Mud volcanoes release material originated from sedimentary deposits, in the form of gas, water and solid sediments. The shape and height of mud volcanoes depend on the viscosity, density and grains size of the erupted material, its volume, rate, nature and frequency of emissions: slow or fast (Ivanov et al., 1996; Judd and Hovland, 2007).

If the volcano cone has an angle smaller than 5°, it means they are mud volcanoes with flattened structure. If the crater is filled with mud, the structure formed is called a mud pool.

Another types of macro-emissions

Types of macro-emissions encountered, other than mud volcanoes are (Etiope et al., 2008):

- Water springs with CH₄ bubbling. In this case the abundant gas emission is accompanied by water discharge. Water can come from profundity and interacts with the gas in its ascending path to the surface.
- Dry emissions, whose main characteristic is the release of a single phase, the gas one, through rock outcrops, soil horizons or beds of rivers and lakes. Gases traversing rocks or dry soil can ignite and burn naturally for longer periods of time (everlasting fires).

Micro-emissions

Micro-emissions are diffuse emissions, slow and continuous characterized usually by small flows and manifestations over wide areas. Micro-emissions were classified into three groups, dependent on the emission factor (Etiope and Klusman, 2010):

- group I, for which the emission factor is $>50 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ day}^{-1}$;
- group II, for which the emission factor is between 5-50 mg m⁻² day⁻¹;
- group III, for which the emission factor is between 0-5 mg m⁻² day⁻¹;

The CH_4 flow in case of micro-emissions depends on two factors: the gas amount and pressure in the basin and permeability of rocks and fissures. In areas with seismic activity or active in terms of tectonic, the emission factor can be higher.

Geology of Moldavian Platform

The covering deposited over the crystalline foundation is composed of sedimentary deposits accumulated in three major cycles belonging to the Paleozoic, Mesozoic and Neozoic, having a summed thickness between 2500 m and 6100 m with an increase in

thickness from east to west and from north to south (Ionesi, 1994). The oldest rocks that outcrop are the Cretaceous ones.

Geology of the study area in Transylvanian Basin

Opinions on the early formation of the Transylvanian Basin vary from author to author. Vancea (1960) considers Upper Cretaceous - Early Tertiary as a period of the Transylvanian Basin formation and as the completion of the immersion process, the Late Pliocene.

Based on data collected up to that time, Ciupagea et al. (1970) provide a completion, namely that the Transylvanian Basin was formed during five sedimentary cycles: 1 - Upper Cretaceous, 2 - Paleogene, 3 - Lower Miocene (Burdigalian-Helvetian), 4 - Middle Miocene (Badenian) – Upper Miocene (Sarmatian) and 5 - Pliocene.

Krézsek and Filipescu (2005) consider that the evolution of the Transylvanian Basin took place during four stages: Late Cretaceous, Paleogene, Lower Miocene and Mid-Upper Miocene.

Following the tectonic evolution of the Transylvanian Basin, three distinct structures resulted: circular or ellipsoidal domes, diapir folds on the east and west sides and monoclinic in NV, N and S (Săndulescu, 1984).

Natural gas deposits in Moldavian Platform

Gas-bearing structures of the Moldavian Platform occur, in vast majority, in Eocene structures and to a lesser extent in Mesozoic structures (Beca and Prodan, 1983). Through geophysical prospecting, oil-gas-bearing structures of monoclinal type were identified as those in Frasin, Mălin, Valea Seacă, Roman-Secuieni or Mărgineni.

Unlike the folded areas or regions of domes, in the Moldavian Platform hydrocarbon accumulations are in smaller quantities and therefore the exerted pressure is low, resulting in less spectacular gas manifestations, different from the typical mud volcanoes (Peahă, 1965).

Natural gas deposits in the Transylvanian Basin

Most gas deposits were generated in the Miocene (Ciupagea et al., 1970) and are of biogenic origin (Popescu, 1995). Other identified deposits were generated in the Upper Cretaceous - Lower Miocene, as the NV Transylvanian oil-gas-bearing system (Popescu, 1995).

The generating rocks for gas hydrocarbons in the Transylvanian Basin were formed in the Middle Miocene and are of the type of bituminous shales, radiolarian shales and marl packages. The economic value of some deposits decreased due to the erosion phenomenon: Puini, Strugureni, Sărmăşel, Şincai, Zau de Câmpie, Sânger, Vaidei, because of complications of tectonic nature: Daia, Bunești, Cristur, Chedea, Şoimuş, Sângeorgiu de Pădure, Ghinești, Trei Sate, Miercurea Nirajului, Teleac or because of fault structures: Copșa Mică and Noul Săsesc (Paraschiv, 1975; Filipescu and Humă, 1979).

III. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Documentation phase

In the scientific literature references were found for 46 locations in the Moldavian Platform and 69 locations in the Transylvanian Basin where there have not been previously made gas flow measurements.

Identification in the field proved to be difficult because of the approximate description of locations, but locals and shepherds proved to be of great help, courtesy of whom most gas manifestations were identified.

Gas manifestations in the Moldavian Platform

During the first field campaign, conducted in the Moldavian Platform in Botoşani, Iaşi and Vaslui counties, 46 locations were investigated selected on the basis of literature data and information from various sources (internet media, personal communications). Among these, active gas manifestations were observed in 11 locations while in one location indications of the existence of inactive manifestations were observed at the time of research. In 34 locations no seeked gas manifestations could be identified.

An active mud volcano was identified which is not mentioned in the literature (Mânjeşti Deal) and an abandoned drilled well with gas emissions in Hlipiceni locality.

The literature records the existence of small gas basins without economic importance in the Moldavian Platform (Paraschiv, 1979). These basins, presumably located at shallow depth, is possible that they have the capacity to generate gas manifestations at the soil surface, that have been studied, at least partially, in the present thesis.

Gas manifestations in the Transylvanian Basin

During the second campaign conducted in the Transylvanian Basin, 69 locations were investigated selected based on literature data and information from various sources (internet media, personal communications). Among these, active gas manifestations were observed in 13 locations while in 3 locations indications of the existence of inactive manifestations were observed at the time of research. In 53 locations no seeked gas manifestations could be identified.

A new point was identified that has not been previously investigated in Boarta locality, represented by an abandoned well from which water flows with gas emissions.

A special case is represented by the geological reservation of Boz, Alba County, where flow measurements have been previously performed at 4 mud volcanoes of the existing 13 (Spulber, 2010). In 2013 measurements have been performed at all volcanoes in the reservation.

Investigation method for the gas flow

Methane and carbon dioxide flow measurements were performed by the closed chamber method, using a portable device developed by West Systems srl Italy. The device is composed of an accumulation chamber, a methane detector and a carbon dioxide detector, a ventilation device of the accumulation chamber, a gas suction pump from the accumulation chamber, filters. Flow calculation is made by a portable computer equipped with a dedicated software. Data reception from detectors is performed through a wireless network.

Mode of operation

The accumulation chamber is placed on the ground up to the limiter and the gas flow is measured by the variation of the gas concentration in a chosen time interval (Etiope, 2008; Spulber et al., 2010).

Data recorded by the detectors are transmitted to the computer via a dedicated software installed (FluxManager) that records in real time the flow curves and calculates the methane and carbon dioxide flows. During measurements, the flow curve, the regression quality factor, the slope (ppm/s) and the minimum and maximum concentration values (ppm) are displayed on the computer screen.

In order to obtain a better flow assessment, a proper selection of the flow curve is required, depending on the measurement duration and the slope. It is recommended that the measurement time is in the range of 120÷360 seconds and the linear regression of the flow curve has the best slope (a).

Method of data interpretation

In order to estimate emissions of methane and carbon dioxide, two methods were used: "natural neighbor" interpolation and emission factor.

a. "Natural neighbor" interpolation method

This method provides the best interpolation for irregular spatial distribution of measurement points, without allocating large flows to sectors where no measurements have been made.

b. Emission factor method

This method consists in dividing the analyzed surface in homogeneous areas with fluxes close in order of magnitude, for which an average flow is determined, the total emission being obtained using the formula (Etiope et al., 2007):

Emission factor method was used in case of a small number of measurement points in relation to the analyzed surface or because of the difficult or impossible access in some parts of the investigated area (usually the central area) and for which interpolation of measured flows leads to an overestimation of gas emissions. Determination of homogeneous areas was based on field observations and according to the flows distribution on the analyzed surface.

The difficulty of the method was to determine the influence of homogeneous areas upon the central area, especially in case of mud volcanoes with large areas and perimeter arrangement of the measurement points. Useful information for this method is regarding the following:

- *Volcano structure*. If it has a dome structure, it is likely that at the maximum height point flows reach the highest values decreasing towards margins. In case of a flat structure, it is difficult to estimate the flow in the central area and framing in one of the homogeneous areas, but for this purpose observations on the presence of water holes in which brawlings or recent traces of sludge leakage are visible may be helpful.
- Solid material on the surface. The presence of rock fragments in different environmental uninvestigated areas indicates a probability of emissions. Estimation of gas flows levels and framing in one of the homogeneous areas can be facilitated by comparing these areas with those in which measurements have been performed. If liquid mud or puddles occur in the uninvestigated area, and the study area (perimeter) is covered with a crust of dried mud, it is possible that flows are higher in the uninvestigated area.
- *Crust condition.* If the uninvestigated area is covered with a hardened crust, crossed by cracks, flows diffuse along those. A realistic estimate would be framing of the uninvestigated area in the homogeneous area defined by the flow in the immediate vicinity.

In case of small areas up to 2 m^2 or those completely covered by dry crusts and crossed by cracks, emissions were estimated by calculating the average flow for the whole analyzed area.

Different situations may arise in the field for which a great number of scenarios can be created. A more realistic estimate can be obtained using as much information as possible from the site and on the basis of information from scientific literature. Gas emissions estimation by differentiating data into groups with flows of the same order of magnitude and calculating an average flow for each homogeneous area in part is closer to reality than calculating an average flux attributed to the analyzed surface considered homogeneous or by summing measured flows where the distribution area of emissions is given by the product between the number of measurement points and the surface of the accumulation chamber.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Investigation of methane and carbon dioxide emissions in the Moldavian Platform and uninvestigated areas in the Transylvanian Basin represents the experimental part of this thesis.

The Moldavian Platform

Measurements in the Moldavian Platform were performed in a dry period (July 2013), the estimated quantities of methane being generally low. In total, 93 measurements were made of which 67 (72%) recorded flow values below 10 ppm. Higher values of CH₄ flows were recorded punctually in the gas manifestations from Stănilești (3372 g m⁻² day⁻¹ in point no.6), Pogănești MV2 (2116 g m⁻² day⁻¹ in point no.1) and Oțetoaia MV2 (1231 g m⁻² day⁻¹ in point no.1). CO₂ flows measured in individual source points are between 1.45 to 8489 g m⁻² day⁻¹. Total estimation of emissions from natural sources in the Moldavian Platform reaches 8.99 t/year CH₄ and 55.35 t/year CO₂.

In the case of Hlipiceni site, flow measurements showed values of 13×10^5 g CH₄ day⁻¹ and 4×10^4 g CO₂ day⁻¹, estimations of emissions reaching 11,08 t/year CH₄ and 0.45 t/year CO₂.

Total overall emissions in the Moldavian Platform form emission sources investigated for the first time in this study show values of 20.07 t/year for methane and 55.8 t/year for carbon dioxide.

In the Moldavian Platform, the rock gas storage is in a region of platform with much lower gas accumulations than in folded regions. This explains the low recorded emanations. In two locations, Pogănești and Hlipiceni, a higher gas flow allowed gas sampling for analysis in the laboratory. The results show that in case of the gas manifestation in Pogănești, methane has a mixed origin, thermogenic and microbial while in Hlipiceni it has a microbial origin.

No information has been published to date about the existence of hydrocarbons or methane deposits in the Moldavian Platform closely related to methane emissions in the studied areas. Except for the drilled well in Hlipiceni, which allows gas migration to the surface passing through the existent aquifer at a depth of about 200 m. In this case, the very low water flow indicates that a groundwater not being under the pressure of aquifer layers, its flow being caused by the high gas flow (mainly methane and carbon dioxide) that indicates the existence of an underground gas accumulation. Gases can be ignited, the flame reaching 25-30 cm in height.

The obtained results do not provide information about their size and depth, and it can not be stated whether they are economically feasible. The fact that methane emissions have been identified represents a starting point for further investigations in order to obtain more detailed data on the potential reservoir area.

The Transylvanian Basin

In the Transylvanian Basin, 284 measurements were performed out of which 190 (~66%) recorded flow values below 10 ppm. Higher values of CH₄ flows were recorded punctually in gas manifestations from Goagiu (2941 g m⁻² day⁻¹ in point no.1), Blăjel MV4 (512 g m⁻² day⁻¹ in point no.4) and Țapu MV1 (464 g m⁻² day⁻¹ in point no. 2). CO₂ flows measured in individual source points range between 2.88-2941 g m⁻² day⁻¹. Total estimation of emissions of gas manifestations from natural sources in the Transylvanian Basin reaches the value of 20.15 t/year CH₄ and 57.08 t/year CO₂.

In the case of Boarta probe (anthropogenic emissions), flow measurements showed values of 41547 g CH₄ m⁻² day⁻¹ and 551 g CO₂ m⁻² day⁻¹, emissions estimates reaching 1.11 t/year CH₄ and 0.059 t/year CO₂.

Data obtained in the geological reservation of Boz, Alba County represent a completion to measurements performed in 2009 by Spulber. Gas flows measured in 85 individual source points range between 0.13-205 g CH₄ m⁻² day⁻¹ and 8.08-2490 g CO₂ m⁻² day⁻¹; total estimation of emissions reaches the value of 3.76 t/year CH₄ and 24.19 t/year CO₂ for an emission distribution area of 208.89 m². CH₄ estimates obtained by Spulber led to a methane emission of 0.20 t/year CH₄ for an emission distribution area of 23 m².

Investigation of gas manifestations at Băile Homorod in 2014 revealed a change of the conditions recorded in 2009 by Spulber. Gas manifestations recorded in 2009 became inactive and three new emission points were identified. Estimates in 2014 led to values of 0.01 t/year

 CH_4 and 0.23 t/year of CO_2 , indicating a decrease of methane and carbon dioxide emissions in comparison to 2009.

Total estimated overall emissions in the Transylvanian Basin form emission sources investigated for the first time in this study show values of 21.26 t/year for methane and 57.13 t/year of carbon dioxide.

Similar international studies

In the past 50 years numerous studies have been performed on mud volcanoes and gas emissions areas (e.g. Jakubov et al., 1971; Barber et al., 1986; Kopf, 2002), more than 10000 such gas manifestations being estimated (Clarke and Cleverly, 1991), out of which only a small number have been investigated directly: over 1150 gas manifestations in 84 countries.

Measurements of methane emissions from geogenic sources – macro-emissions were measured in five countries in Europe (including Romania). Measurements performed in Italy led to an estimate of emissions of 3203 t CH_4 year⁻¹ corresponding to an investigated area of 1.53 km². In Greece, in an investigated area of 0.04 km², estimated emissions lie around 17.6 t CH_4 year⁻¹. In Scotland, on the investigated 0.0025 km², emissions were estimated at 400 t CH_4 year⁻¹. In Switzerland, for which the investigated area was not reported, estimated emissions are 71 t CH_4 year⁻¹ (Etiope, 2008).

In Azerbaijan, on the investigated 5.9 km², flows of 55-560000 mg m⁻² year⁻¹ were recorded, with total emissions of 1392 t CH₄ year⁻¹ and emission estimates were performed on an area of 2000 km² resulting methane emissions of 300,000-900,000 t year⁻¹ (Etiope, 2008).

Micro-emissions (except for mud volcanoes or areas near macro-emissions) represent a source of methane with an impact on the atmospheric budget of this gas, the estimates indicate a contribution of more than 10 Tg year⁻¹ (Etiope and Klusman, 2010).

According to the data published so far, Romania investigated 2,275 km², the estimated total emissions exceeding 2100 t CH_4 year⁻¹ (Etiope, 2009; Spulber, 2010). Contributions in this thesis regarding emissions form geogenic sources provide the first information about emissions areas in the Moldavian Platform and is a completion of CH_4 emissions in the Transylvanian Basin. However, information published in this thesis on gas emissions in the Moldavian Platform represents the preliminary data in the case of conducting prospecting in the investigated areas.

All data obtained in this thesis will contribute to a more accurate outline of CH₄ budget at global scale.

CONCLUSIONS

- The literature studied for writing this thesis mentions the existence of 46 locations with gas manifestations in the Moldavian Platform and 69 locations in the Transylvanian Basin.
- As a result of investigations in the field, 11 locations with active gas manifestations were identified in the Moldavian Platform (mud volcanoes and areas with emissions) and indications of the existence of an emission manifestation in a location, but inactive at the time of research. Emissions estimated on the basis of the results obtained from the 93 flow measurements performed in the investigated locations in the Moldavian Platform show values of 20.07 t/year for methane and 55.8 t/year of carbon dioxide.
- In the Transylvanian Basin, 13 locations with active gas manifestations were identified (mud volcanoes and areas with emissions) and indications of the existence of inactive manifestations at the moment of research in 3 locations. Emissions estimated on the basis of the results obtained from the 284 flow measurements performed in the investigated locations in the Transylvanian Basin show values of 21.26 t/year for methane and 57.13 t/year for carbon dioxide.
- Currently no information has been found on the existence of deposits or reservoirs of methane or regarding initiation of prospecting in the investigated areas of the Moldavian Platform.
- Gas manifestations investigated in the Moldavian Platform represent the surface evidence of natural gas occurrence, without giving information about their size and depth. At this stage of the investigation it can not be stated whether the identified natural gas accumulations are economically feasible. The importance of these investigations is that they can be a starting point for further investigations in order to obtain more detailed data on the potential reservoir area.
- In the Transylvanian Basin, the performed investigations complete the existing data on methane and carbon dioxide emissions obtained by Baciu (2007) and Spulber (2010).
- This thesis investigated for the first time the emissions of methane and carbon dioxide in the Moldavian Platform and in uninvestigated areas with emissions in the Transylvanian Basin, contributing to the completion of the data published to date on emissions in Romania and to the completion of the global database.

Selective bibliography

- Abrams M.A., 2005, Significance of hydrocarbon seepage relative to petroleum generation and entrapment. Marine Petroleum Geology, v. 22, p. 457-477.
- Baciu C., Caracausi A., Etiope G. and Italiano F., 2007, *Mud volcanoes and methane seeps in Romania: main features and gas flux.* Annals of Geophysics, 50 (4).
- Baciu C., Etiope G., Cuna S., Spulber L., 2008, Methane seepage in an urban development area (Bacau, Romania): origin, extent, and hazard. Geofluids (8), p. 311-320.
- Beca C., Prodan D., 1983, *Geology of hydrocarbons deposits*. Editura Didactică și Pedagogică, București, 271 pp.
- Deville E., Guerlais S., 2009, *Cyclic activity of mud volcanoes: Evidences from Trinidad (SE Caribbean)*, Marine and Petroleum Geology nr. 26, p. 1681–1691.
- Dimitrov L.I., 2002, Mud volcanoes—the most important pathway for degassing deeply buried sediments. Earth Sci Rev 59:49–76.
- Enculescu P., 1911, *Several muds (holes) in the Moldavian Plateaui*. Dări de seamă Inst.geol. Rom., vol.II.
- Etiope, G. and Klusman, R. W., 2002. *Geologic emissions of methane to the atmosphere*. Chemosphere, 49, 777–789.
- Etiope G., Baciu C., Caracausi A., Italiano F., Cosma C., 2004, *Gas flux to the atmosphere from mud volcanoes in eastern Romania*, Terra Nova, 16, 179–184.
- Etiope G., 2008, *Natural emissions of methane from geological seepage in Europe*, Atmospheric Environment, 43, 1430-1443.
- Etiope G., 2008, Technical specifications of closed chamber system for measurements of methane flux from soil, Technical report for West Systems srl.
- Etiope G., Feyzullayev A., Baciu C., 2008, *Terrestrial methane seeps and mud volcanoes: A global perspective of gas origin*, Marine and Petroleum Geology, 26/3: 333-344.
- Etiope, G. and Klusman, R. W., 2010, *Microseepage in drylands: Flux and implications in the global atmospheric*. Global and Planetary Change 72 (2010) 265–274
- Falk I., 2003, *Stratigraphy of Transylvanian Basin known through drillings performed so far*. Referat de doctorat, Universitatea Babeş-Bolyai, Cluj-Napoca, 29, 7 appendices pp., (in Romanian).
- Filipescu S., 1996, *Stratigraphy of the Neogene from the western border of the Transylvanian Basin.* Studia Univ. Babeş-Bolyai, Geol.-Geogr., XLI, 2, Cluj-Napoca, p. 3–79
- Florea M., 1985, *Notes on the mud volcanoes on the territory of Romania*. Ocrotirea naturii și a mediului înconjurător, Natura, Tera, 3, p.45-45.
- Frunzeti N., Baciu C. Etiope G., Pfanz H., 2012, Geogenic emission of metane and carbon dioxide at Beciu mud volcano (Berca-Arbănaşi hydrocarbon-bearing structure, Eastern Carpathians, Romania), Carpathian Journal of Earth and Environmental Sciences, August 2012, Vol. 7, No. 3, p. 159 – 166.
- Hovland M., Curzi P. V., 1989, *Gas seepage and assumed mud diapirism in the Italian central Adriatic Sea*, Marine and Petroleum Geology, vol. 6, iss. 2, p. 161–169.
- Ionesi L., 1994. *Geologia unităților de platformă și a orogenului Nord-Dobrogean*. Editura Tehnică București
- IPCC, 2013, Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis, of Working Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1535 pp.

- Judd A., Hovland M., 2007, Seabed Fluid Flow, The Impact on Geology, Biology and the Marine Environment, Cambridge University Press, 475 p.
- Kopf A., Ben Clennell M., Kevin M. Brown, 2005, Physical Properties of Muds Extruded from Mud Volcanoes: Implications for Episodicity of Eruptions and Relationship to Seismicity, in Martinelli, G., Panahi, B. (redactori) Mud Volcanoes, Geodynamics and Seismicity, NATO Earth Env. Sci. Ser., Vol. 51, p. 263–283.
- Krézsek Cs., Bally W.A., 2006, The Transylvanian Basin (Romania) and its relation to the Carpathian fold and thrust belt: Insights in the gravitational salt tectonics. Marine and Petroleum Geology, v.23/4, p. 405-442
- Lazăr A.L., Baciu C., Roba C., Dicu T., Pop I.C., Rogozan C., Dobrotă C., 2013, *Impact of the past mining activity in Rosia Montana (Romania) on soil and vegetation*, Environ Earth Sci, DOI 10.1007/s12665-014-3361-z.
- Macarovici N., 1945. Indications of the presence of natural gases in the Moldavian Plateau. Rev. şt. "V. Adamachi". vol. XXXI. nr. 3.
- Mazzini A., 2009, *Mud volcanism: Processes and implications*, Marine and Petroleum Geology, 26 (2009) 1677–1680.
- Morariu, D.C., 1998. Subtle traps in the petroleum hydrocarbon systems of Romania. Ph.D. thesis, Bucharest University, Romania, 156 pp.
- Mutihac V., Stratulat M.L., Fechet R.M., 2004, *Geology of Romania*. Editura Didactică și Pedagogică, București
- Panahi B., 2005, Mud Volcanism, Geodynamics and Seismicity of Azerbaidjan and the Caspian Sea Region, NATO Sci. Ser., Vol. 51, p. 89–104.
- Paraschiv D., 1975, *Geology of hydrocarbon deposits in Romania*. Institutul de Geologie și Geofizică, Stud. Teh. Econ., Seria A, v. 10, 363 p.
- Paraschiv D., Paraschiv C., 1978, Green shale zones and relations with other units of the Oriental Carpathians vorland. Stud. Cerc. Geol. 23/1.
- Paraschiv D., 1979, *Romanian Oil and Gas Fields, vol. 13*. Institutul de Geologie și Geofizică Stud. Teh. Econ. Seria A, Bucharest, 382 pp.
- Pătraşcu, S., Panaiotu, C., Şeclăman, M. and Panaiotu, C. E., 1994. Timing of rotational motion of Apuseni Mountains (Romania): paleomagnetic data from Tertiary magmatic rocks. Tectonophysics, 233, 163-176.
- Pătruț I., Dăneț Th., 1987, Le Pré-cambrian (Vendien) et le Cambrian dans la Plate-forme Moldave. An. șt. Univ. Iași, s.II-b, XXXIII.
- Păucă M., 1969, *The Mud volcanoes from Transylvania*. Ministerul Minelor, Bul. Geol. 4, p. 38-40.
- Peahă M., 1965. *The Mud volcanoes from Romania*. St. Cerc. Geol., GFeofis., Geogr., 12(2), 193-206 (in Romania).
- Popița G.E., Frunzeti N., Ionescu A., Lazar A.L., Baciu C., Popovici A., Pop I.C, Faur V.C., Proorocu M., 2012, Evaluation of carbon dioxide and methane emissions from Cluj-Napoca municipal landfill, International Journal of Environmental Pollution, in press.
- Rusu A., 1970, Correlation of Oligocene facies in the area Treznea-Bizuşa (NV Transylvanian Basin). Studii și Cercetări Geol., Geof., Geogr. Ser. Geol. 15, 2,București, p. 513-525.
- Şencu V., 1985, Mud volcanoes from Berca. Edit. Sport-Turism, București, 21 pp.
- Sevastos E., 1914, Geological description of surroundings of Iaşi city. An. Inst. Geol. Rom., vol. V.
- Spulber L., Etiope G., Baciu C., Maloş C., Vlad Ş. N., 2010, *Methane emission from natural* gas seeps and mud volcanoes in Transilvania (Romania). Geofluids 10, p.463-475.